THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Cynthia Graham Howe, Master-In-Equity

---

Case No. 2004-CP-26-2075  
Appellate Case No. 2012-212773

---

John Musick, ..... Respondent

v.

Thomas L. Dicks and Robert E. Dicks, Jr., ..... Appellants.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS**

---

Demetri K. Koutrakos  
Mary Dameron Milliken  
CALLISON TIGHE & ROBINSON, LLC  
1812 Lincoln Street, Suite #200  
P. O. Box 1390  
Columbia, SC 29202-1390  
Telephone: 803-404-6900

**ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANTS**

**RECEIVED**

MAY 17 2013

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the Master err in holding that only the “Grantor” had the right to change lot lines pursuant to the 1972 Order when the plain language of the 1972 Order does not limit this right of revision to any particular party?
- II. Did the Master err in holding that Carmen F. Ward and Gene F. Lewis were the “Grantors” contemplated in the 1972 Order when that term is not defined in the 1972 Order or elsewhere and when the Master instead appears to have considered the 1972 Order ambiguous, and relied upon extrinsic evidence, but thereafter failed to construe the 1972 Order in favor of the free use of property?
- III. To the extent that the Master found the Dicks did not hold the right of lot revisions, did the Master err in failing to find and hold that the 1972 Order was ambiguous and in therefore construing the language of the 1972 Order in favor of the free use of property?
- IV. Did the Master err in holding that the property in question had always been sold as one lot when two prior recorded plats show the property as seven lots, which fact was admitted by Respondent and similarly held by this Court of Appeals and is now the law of this case?
- V. Did the Master err in finding that Carmen F. Ward had the right to subdivide the property pursuant to the 1972 Order when the 1972 Order provided no such right and the restrictions made applicable to the property pursuant to the 1972 Order specifically provide that “no lot shall be subdivided”?
- VI. Did the Master err in relying on the fact that certain portions of the property may be wetlands and seeking to determine whether the lot arrangement chosen by the Dicks is “practical” when no testimony was presented as to this issue and when the “practicality” of the Dicks’ chosen arrangement has no bearing on the right of the Dicks to arrange their lots as they wish?
- VII. Did the Master err in holding that the subject property should continue to be one lot and in failing to find the Dicks could own their property as seven lots as shown on their 2003 Plat when the property had always been seven lots and the Dicks had the right to revise the arrangement of the seven lots pursuant to the 1972 Order?
- VIII. Did the Master err in failing to find that the Shelter Rule protects the Dicks and allows them to hold title unencumbered by the restrictions imposed by the 1972 Order when the 1972 Order was admittedly not properly recorded and the Dicks’ predecessors in title both purchased the property without knowledge of the 1972 Order?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent John Musick (“Respondent” or “Musick”) instituted this action by filing his Complaint on April 12, 2004 in the Court of Common Pleas for the Fifteenth Judicial Circuit, and his Amended Complaint on May 26, 2005. (R. pp. 67-71, 78-82). Respondent alleged that although the 1955 Plat (defined below) shows that Blocks 28 and 29 contain seven lots and although the 1972 Order (defined below) provides for right of revision of the lot arrangement for these seven lots and the arrangement thereof, that the recording by the Appellants, Thomas L. Dicks and Robert E. Dicks, Jr. (“Appellants” or the “Dicks”), of a plat showing the property as containing seven lots violated the terms of the 1972 Order.<sup>1</sup> (R. pp. 78-82). Musick requested that the lower court issue an order declaring the lot arrangement evidenced by the 2003 Plat (defined below) “constitutes a violation of the restrictions applicable to the [Subject Property] and to Long Bay Estates Subdivision as a whole.” (R. p. 81).

The Dicks answered the Complaint and subsequently the Amended Complaint and asserted certain counterclaims against Musick alleging that no restrictive covenants apply to the Subject Property which affect the Dicks’ right to own their Property as seven lots, and the Dicks requested a declaratory judgment stating they have not violated any restrictions, covenants, and orders that are alleged to encumber the Subject Property. (R. pp. 72-77, 89-95).

---

<sup>1</sup> Although the Amended Complaint filed by Musick in this action asserted certain claims against the Dicks based on issues related to the potential future use of the Subject Property as rental property, all of these claims have now been dismissed upon the agreement of the parties and as evidenced by the Stipulation of Dismissal which was filed in this matter on June 12, 2007.

The Dicks and Musick each filed Motions for summary judgment and the Honorable J. Stanton Cross, Jr., as Master-in-Equity for Horry County, held a hearing on these motions on August 16, 2006 and issued his Final Order Ending Action (“Order Granting Summary Judgment”), dated March 6, 2007 and filed on March 7, 2007, wherein he granted Musick’s Motion for Summary Judgment. (R. pp. 21-35).

The Dicks appealed the Order Granting Summary Judgment and the Court of Appeals, after reviewing the briefs of both parties and hearing oral arguments on the issues presented, issued its Opinion (the “2010 Opinion”) reversing the grant of summary judgment by Judge Cross and remanding the case for a trial on the merits. (R. pp. 59-66). Musick filed a petition for rehearing regarding this 2010 Opinion, which was denied, and Musick failed to pursue any appeal of the 2010 Opinion (or any portion thereof) or the Order Denying Musick’s Petition for Rehearing.<sup>2</sup> (R. pp. 98-99, 18-19.)

Upon remand, the trial was held on April 12, 2011 which culminated in an Order issued by The Honorable Cynthia Graham Howe, as Master-in-Equity for Horry County (the “Master”), dated July 29, 2011 and filed on August 9, 2011 (the “Order”) which found in favor of Musick, the particulars of which are more particularly discussed below. (R. pp. 10-17). The Dicks filed their Motion to Reconsider, Alter or Amend the Judgment on September 11, 2011, which Motion was denied by the Master’s Order Denying Defendants’ Motion for Reconsideration filed on July 18, 2012. (R. pp. 100-143, 6-9). The Dicks timely filed their Notice of Appeal of the Order and the Order Denying Motion for Reconsideration on August 20, 2012. (R. pp. 144-159).

---

<sup>2</sup> As will be discussed below, the 2010 Opinion finds that “[t]he 1955 Plat and a map attached to the 1972 Order show Blocks 28 and 29 divided into seven different lots.” (R. p. 64). This finding was not appealed by Musick and therefore has become the law of this case.

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The Dicks and Musick each own certain real property within the Long Bay Estates subdivision in Myrtle Beach, Horry County, South Carolina. The Dicks own seven lots located within Blocks 28 and 29 of the aforementioned subdivision (the "Property" or "Subject Property") which are described with more particularity hereinbelow. (R. pp. 79-80, 536-537, 538-541). Musick is the owner of Lot 4 of Block 24 within the subdivision. (R. p. 78). In 1955, Robert L. Bellamy drew a plat of the subdivision (the "1955 Plat"), which was eventually recorded in the office of the Register of Deeds for Horry County on May 5, 1958 in Plat Book 25 at Page 22. (R. p. 530). The Subject Property is shown on the 1955 Plat as comprising seven individual lots within Blocks 28 and 29. Id.

Certain alleged restrictions were somehow attached to and recorded with the 1955 Plat despite the fact that these alleged restrictions are not signed, dated or acknowledged (the "1958 Restrictions"). Id. The 1958 Restrictions provide, in pertinent part, as follows:

Restrictions to be imposed on the Residential Property in the Long Bay Estates Subdivision Myrtle Beach, Horry County, South Carolina.

These Protective Covenants are recorded as Blanket Covenants covering all lots in Blocks 1 through 27, as shown on the Plat of Long Bay Estates dated May, 1955, compiled by Robert L. Bellamy, Engn.

Id. Under the above-quoted provision of the 1958 Restrictions, the 1958 Restrictions only apply to Blocks 1 through 27 of the subdivision, and not to the Subject Property which comprises Blocks 28 and 29.

On June 1, 1972, Gene F. Lewis and Carmen F. Ward ("Gene Lewis" and "Carmen Ward"), alleging ownership of Blocks 28-33 of Long Bay Estates, filed an

action against Leroy Adams and numerous other owners of property in Long Bay Estates seeking, among other things, to quiet title to certain portions of said plaintiffs' property over which the 1955 Plat shows a road to be constructed, said road having never been constructed. (R. pp. 455-470). In connection with this action, an order was issued by the Honorable Winston Vaught, which was filed on November 21, 1972 (the "1972 Order"). Id. In the 1972 Order, the court concluded that the alleged 1958 Restrictions, by their express terms, apply only to Blocks 1 through 27, and that the property owned by the plaintiffs in that action – including Blocks 28 and 29 – is not subject to the 1958 Restrictions. (R. p. 460). In so holding, the court stated:

*The declaration of restrictions or protective covenants recorded along with the plat in Plat Book 25 at page 22 expressly limits those restrictions to the residential lots shown within Blocks 1-27, inclusive. Such declaration negates an implicit extension of the restrictions or protective covenants outside of the specified blocks, and . . . I find and hold that the portion of the plaintiffs' property with which their actions concerns itself is not subject to any restrictions or protective covenants beyond Block 27.*

Id. (emphasis added).

However, in connection with the above-referenced action, the parties apparently agreed to place certain restrictions upon Blocks 28 and 29, separate and apart from the 1958 Restrictions. (R. p. 461). The 1972 Order created these restrictions upon Blocks 28 and 29 by providing as follows:

In like manner the remaining portions of "old" Blocks 28 and 29, that is to say the area lying between the rear of Blocks 24 and 25 and the southeasternmost "paved street" are subject to such residential restrictions, *but with right of revision of the lot arrangement* or for combination with abutting portions of lots in Blocks 24 and 25.

Id. (emphasis added).

The 1972 Order further explains that the above areas have been indicated as "residential" and as "residential (with right of revision)" on the copy of the map attached thereto. Id. On the map attached to the 1972 Order, the Subject Property, which consists of the seven lots making up the remaining portions of Blocks 28 and 29, is clearly identified as "residential (with right of revision)." (R. p. 470).

The 1972 Order was indexed in the Clerk of Court's office under the name of Leroy Adams, but was not indexed as a judgment against the names of the plaintiffs in that case - Gene Lewis and Carmen Ward - as required by Section 15-35-520 of the South Carolina Code. (R. p. 167, lines 12-18, p. 182, lines 2-5); S.C. CODE ANN. § 15-35-520 (2005). Because the plaintiffs in the case out of which the 1972 Order arose were the record owners of the subject property, the 1972 Order was not indexed in the chain of title to the property that was the subject of that action, a portion of said property now being owned by the Dicks and identified herein as the Subject Property. Thus, the 1972 Order was not discoverable during a routine title examination of the Subject Property and did not operate to provide constructive or inquiry notice to third parties of its terms. (R. p. 360, lines 20-24, p. 380, line 16 – p. 381, line 5, p. 404, lines 11-22). This fact is acknowledged and admitted by all parties to this litigation. (R. p. 167, lines 12-18, p. 182, lines 2-5).

Following the execution and (improper) filing of the 1972 Order, David W. and Leigh Ammons Meese (collectively, the "Meeses") purchased the Subject Property from Carmen Ward and others. The Subject Property consists of the remaining portions of Blocks 28 and 29, as evidenced by that certain deed to the Meeses for the Subject Property, which was recorded on September 4, 1997 in Book 1971 at Page 134 in the

office of the Register of Deeds for Horry County (the "Meese Deed"). (R. pp. 532-535). At the time of the conveyance of the Subject Property to the Meeses as described above, it has not been proven that the Meeses had actual knowledge of the 1972 Order or the 1972 Restrictions contained therein. (R. p. 384, lines 15-19, p. 385, lines 14-25, p. 386, lines 1-11, p. 386, line 25 – p. 387, line 8, p. 396, line 21 – p. 397, line 3). In fact, it is undeniable that David Meese did not have actual knowledge of the 1972 Order. (R. p. 384, lines 15-19, p. 385, lines 14-25, p. 386, lines 1-11, p. 386, line 25 – p. 387, line 8).

The Subject Property was then conveyed by the Meeses to Thomas L. Dicks, as evidenced by that certain deed from the Meeses to Thomas L. Dicks recorded on May 19, 2003 in Book 2597 at Page 296 in the office of the Register of Deeds for Horry County. (R. pp. 536-537). On that same day, Thomas L. Dicks conveyed Lots 1, 2 and 3 of the Subject Property (as shown on the 2003 Plat defined below) to Robert E. Dicks, Jr. by deed recorded on May 19, 2003 in Book 2597 at Page 299 in the office of the Register of Deeds for Horry County. (R. pp. 538-541).

In accordance with and in reliance upon the language of the 1972 Order stating Blocks 28 and 29, which include the Subject Property, are subject to the residential restrictions established by the 1972 Order "but with right of revision of the lot arrangement," the Dicks caused to be prepared and recorded a plat which was approved for recording and recorded on May 19, 2003 in the office of the Register of Deeds for Horry County in Plat Book 189 at Page 237 (the "2003 Plat"). (R. p. 542). The 2003 Plat, like the 1955 Plat, shows Blocks 28 and 29 containing a total of seven lots. It is this 2003 Plat that Musick challenges.

Both Musick and Robert DeCiero, a neighboring landowner (who testified on Musick's behalf), testified that the Subject Property being used as seven lots is consistent with the overall character of the neighborhood. (R. p. 273, line 20 – p. 274, line 2, p. 319, line 23 – p. 320, line 1, p. 320, lines 3-4, p. 334, lines 3-4). Other than the common area and except for one large lot in Long Bay, this property remaining as one large lot would be abnormal for this subdivision. (R. pp. 530, 470).

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

Musick seeks in his Amended Complaint a declaratory judgment and injunctive relief relating to the Dicks' alleged violation of certain restrictions relating to their Property. (R. pp. 81-82). "Declaratory judgments in and of themselves are neither legal nor equitable" and, therefore, the applicable standard of review for a declaratory judgment action is determined by the nature of the underlying issue. Wiedemann v. Town of Hilton Head Island, 344 S.C. 233, 236, 542 S.E.2d 752, 753 (Ct. App. 2001). "Actions for injunctive relief are equitable in nature." Id. Likewise, "[a]n action to enforce restrictive covenants by injunction is in equity." Cedar Cove Homeowners Assoc. v. DiPietro, 368 S.C. 254, 258, 628 S.E.2d 284, 286 (Ct. App. 2006) (on the other hand, an action for breach of restrictive covenants where damages are sought is an action at law). Accordingly, Musick's action to enforce the alleged restrictive covenants through injunction is one in equity. "In equitable actions, the appellate court may review the record and make findings of fact in accordance with its own view of a preponderance of the evidence." Wiedemann, 344 S.C. at 236, 542 S.E.2d at 753; see also Cedar Cove, 368 S.C. at 258, 628 S.E.2d at 286. Therefore, this Court is not bound by the findings of

fact of the Master and is entitled to, and should, review the record and make findings of fact in accordance with its own view of the evidence.

### ARGUMENTS

#### **I. THE MASTER ERRED IN HOLDING THAT ONLY THE “GRANTORS” HAD THE RIGHT TO CHANGE THE LOT LINES.**

The Master expressly found in her Order that the 1972 Order applied the 1958 Restrictions to Blocks 28 and 29 “subject only to the ‘Grantor’s’ rights to change the boundary lines and building lines as to any unsold lots.” (R. p. 11). This finding is in clear error. In reaching this conclusion the Master relied solely upon the language of the 1972-Order, which language provides as follows:

In like manner the remaining portions of “old” Blocks 28 and 29, that is to say the area lying between the rear of Blocks 24 and 25 and the southeasternmost “paved street” are subject to such residential restrictions, **but with right of revision of the lot arrangement or for combination with abutting portions of lots in Blocks 24 and 25.** The restrictions uniformly used in this area and the declarations recorded in 25 at 22 reserved to grantor the right to change boundary lines and building lines as to any unsold lots in any event.

(R. p. 461) (emphasis added).

As is glaringly evident from the language of the 1972 Order, Judge Vaught never said that the 1958 Restrictions applied “subject only to ‘Grantor’s’ rights to change boundary lines and building lines as to any unsold lots.” Judge Vaught said that the remaining portions of Blocks 28 and 29 are subject to the restrictions, “but with right of revision of the lot arrangement or for combination with abutting portions of the lots in Blocks 24 and 25.” (R. p. 461).

In the next sentence, Judge Vaught states what the 1958 Restrictions provide “in any event.” Id. The language in the “in any event” part of the 1972 Order was most likely

added to state that the parties should not be offended that the 1972 Order was providing rights of revision of the lot arrangement because the neighbors in this residential subdivision should have known that limited rights existed to make some alterations in this residential subdivision. However, the "in any event" part of the 1972 Order is not the operative language, but the Master in this case has mistakenly relied on the "in any event" sentence, a sentence unnecessary to the ruling which appears to be surplusage and dicta.

The operative language in this part of the 1972 Order is the granting of revision rights, but the revision rights, according to the plain language of the 1972 Order, are not limited to any particular party. (R. p. 461). The revision rights are not limited to the Plaintiff in the 1972 Case and not limited to the Grantor, whoever that is. If the court in the 1972 Case wanted to limit the revision rights, it could have easily said so, but it did not. Instead, the Master in this case has read a provision into the 1972 Order that simply does not exist.

The Master's construction of the 1972 Order is not practical and is erroneous. The 1958 Restrictions do provide Grantors, whoever they are, with rights to change boundary lines and building lines. Thus, the Master's interpretation is that the court in the 1972 Order held the 1958 Restrictions apply subject to something that is already in the 1958 Restrictions which is a repetitive statement, but at the same time the Master ignores the operative language of the 1972 Order, which says the 1958 Restrictions apply, "**but** with right of revision of the lot arrangement or for combination with abutting portions of lots in Blocks 24 and 25." (R. p. 461) (emphasis added).

Restrictive Covenants, such as those contained in the 1972 Order, are contractual in nature, and therefore "the language used in the restrictive covenant is to be construed

according to its plain and ordinary meaning.” Penny Creek Assoc. v. Fenwick Tarragon Apartments, 375 S.C. 267, 272, 651 S.E.2d 617, 620 (Ct. App. 2007). Furthermore, in light of the fact that restrictions on the use of property are historically disfavored, restrictive covenants are to be “strictly construed” and all doubts as to the proper construction of restrictive covenants must be resolved in favor of free use of the property. Id.; see also Hardy v. Aiken, 369 S.C. 160, 166, 631 S.E.2d 539, 542 (2006). The reasoning behind these long applied and well recognized rules of construction is, again, the historical disfavor of restrictive covenants in South Carolina and the belief within this State that “the best interests of society are advanced by the free and unrestricted use of land.” Charping v. J.P. Scurry & Co., 296 S.C. 312, 314, 372 S.E.2d 120, 121 (Ct. App. 1988).

The “plain language” of the 1972 Order simply states the Subject Property is subject to residential restrictions “*but*<sup>3</sup> with right of revision of the lot arrangement.” (R. p. 461) (emphasis added). The 1958 Restrictions, on the other hand, state that “the *Grantors* reserve the right to change the boundary lines . . . .” (R. p. 530) (emphasis added). In claiming the Dicks do not have the right of revision of the lot arrangement regarding the Subject Property, Musick requests this Court read into the restrictions contained in the 1972 Order, which are clear and unambiguous and do not restrict the right of revision of the lot arrangement to any particular party, the limitation on this right that was included in the 1958 Restrictions. This interpretation and broadening of the

---

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