THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Cynthia Graham Howe, Master in Equity

Case No. 2004-CP-26-2075
Appellate Case No. 2012-212773

John Musick,.....Respondent,

vs.

Thomas L. Dicks and Robert E. Dicks, Jr.,.....Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Thomas C. Brittain
Mary Madison Brittain Langway
THE BRITTAIN LAW FIRM, P.A.
4614 Oleander Drive
Myrtle Beach, SC 29577
Telephone: (843) 449-8562
Facsimile: (843) 497-6124
ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED
MAY 17 2013
SC Court of Appeals

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

ARGUMENT

There are really only two issues in this case and they are: (1) whether the Master correctly ruled in favor of the Respondents in finding that the 1958 Restrictive Covenants apply to the lots owned by Appellants, and (2) whether the Master correctly ruled that the Shelter Rule is not applicable in this situation because neither the Appellants nor the previous lot owners qualify as *bona fide* purchasers for value. Appellants have set forth eight issues in their brief, many of which are confusing and do not focus on the true issues on appeal. However, for purposes of clarity, Respondent has chosen to re-frame the issues and arguments in its brief, while first addressing each of Appellant's eight issues, in a very brief manner.

RESPONSE TO APPELLANTS ARGUMENTS:

1. The Master did not err in holding that only the Grantors had the right to change the lot lines. The Master Howe expressly found in her Order that the 1972 Order issued by Judge Winston Vaught applied. (R. pp. 10-17) Her decision was based on the circumstances set forth at the hearing, the Order issued by Judge Vaught, testimony at the hearing, and all documents introduced at the hearing. Moreover, it is imperative to note that the original restrictions stated that, "No lot shall be subdivided...and as to all unsold lots, the Grantor reserves the right to change the boundary lines and the building lines thereof." (R. p. 600 and separately filed map) It is undisputed that these restrictions applied to Blocks 1 through 27 and that the restrictions meant that they could not subdivide those lots. Judge Vaught's Order in 1972 simply clarified, based on the litigation, that the restrictions also applied to the remaining portions of "old" Blocks 28 and 29, which included the parcel owned by Appellants. (R. p. 49) Therefore, the Master found that Judge Vincent's Order was clear and specific, that the original restrictions, which prohibit subdivision of the lots, apply to Appellant's lots as well. Judge Vaught's order is clear and

unambiguous that only the Grantor retained the right to change the boundary lines and building line...and only as to any unsold lots. (R. p. 49) As such, the Master did not err in holding that only the Grantors had the right to change the lot lines.

2. The Master did no err in holding that Carmen F. Ward and Gene F. Lewis were the “Grantors” contemplated in the 1972 Order. There has never been an issue raised by either Counsel as to who the Grantor’s were. It has been assumed by all parties and counsel throughout the numerous years of litigation that the 1972 Order refers to Carmen F. Ward and Gene F. Lewis as the original “Grantors”. It doesn’t make sense that any other person could be considered the “Grantor” as used in the 1972 Order. Master Howe used her common sense and her understanding of the plain meaning of the Order to determine that the only possible persons who could be the “Grantors” are Carmen F. Ward and Gene F. Lewis. Carmen F. Ward and Gene F. Lewis are the only persons who owned the subject property from the time of the creation of Long Bay Estates until 1997 when Carmen Ward sold a parcel to David and Leigh Ammons Meese. Therefore, there isn’t any other person who could be considered a “Grantor”, since in 1972, when the Order was issued, no one else owned a lot at Long Bay. As such, the Master did not err in holding that Carmen F. Ward and Gene F. Lewis were the “Grantors” contemplated in the 1972 Order.

3. The Master properly held that the language of the 1972 Order was clear and unambiguous. The 1972 Order, when read in conjunction with the original restrictions, which is imperative since the 1972 Order extends the original restrictions to additional lots, is clear that only the Grantors were given the right of revision. The original 1958 Restrictive Covenants state in relevant part: “[A]s to all unsold lots, the Grantor reserves the right to change the boundary lines and building lines thereof.” (R. p. 600 and separately filed map) The first Finding of Fact in the

1972 Order acknowledges that: “The restrictions expressly reserve the right to the Grantors to change the boundary and building lines of unsold lots.” The pertinent language in the 1972 Order is: “In like manner the remaining portions of ‘old’ Blocks 28 and 29 . . . are subject to such residential restrictions, but with right of revision of the lot arrangement.” Further, the Order states: “The restrictions uniformly used in this area . . . reserved to Grantor the right to change boundary lines and building lines as to any unsold lot in any event.” (R. p. 49)

In light of this clear expression of intent, the Master held that only the Grantors had the right of revision of the lot arrangement. This is the only reasonable interpretation of the language used in both the 1958 Restrictive Covenants and the 1972 Order, and there is no evidence to suggest otherwise. Appellants’ attempt to utilize the principle that any ambiguity in restrictive covenants should be construed in favor of the unrestricted use of land is a perversion of that rule.

Respondent acknowledges that restrictive covenants are subject to the rules of contract construction, and that any doubt or ambiguity in the covenants is to be resolved in favor of the free and unrestricted use of land. Sea Pines Plantation Co. v. Wells, 294 S.C. 266, 270, 363 S.E.2d 891, 893 (1987); Hyer v. McRee, 306 S.C. 210, 212, 410 S.E.2d 604, 605 (Ct. App. 1991). Nevertheless, the Master did not find the covenants at issue ambiguous; therefore, the principle of construction argued by Appellants is inapplicable. The Master correctly held that the language in the 1972 Order concerning the right of revision applied solely to the Grantors and not the Appellants.

4. The Master correctly held that the subject property in questions had always been sold as one lot. Respondent’s argument is misleading under this circumstance. It is clear from the testimony that the Meeses bought the property as one lot. (R. p. 391, Lines 13-20) It is also clear that they sold it as one lot. (R. p. 427, lines 11-24) Other than the original Grantor, Carmen

F. Ward, no one else has ever sold or owned the property, except the Meeses. Therefore, since Carmen Ward sold it as one lot, and the Meeses sold it as one lot, it is an undisputed fact that the property in question had always been sold as one lot. Moreover, Appellants' argument as to the unpublished opinion of the Court of Appeals is over-reaching. The Court of Appeals did not make any findings of fact in its' opinion; it simply reversed and remanded for a full hearing, finding that it was error for the lower court to grant summary judgment because there did exist an issue of fact as to the intent to subdivide. (R. pp. 59-66) Master Howe heard the testimony of all parties and witnesses, along with the arguments of counsel and reviewed all exhibits, and determined that the property in question had always been sold as one lot. This is an undisputed fact in the transcript.

5. The Master did not err in finding that Carmen Ward had a right to subdivide the subject property. It is clear from the original Restrictive Covenants and the 1972 Order, that the original Grantors had the right to alter the lot lines. However, this argument is not relevant and makes no difference in terms of whether or not Appellants have a right to subdivide their lots.

6. The Master had a right to consider all circumstances and evidence that was properly brought before her at the hearing. Counsel for Appellants did not object to the introduction of information concerning the wetlands, therefore Respondents assert that this particular issue is not preserved for the Court's review. Conley v. Rowe, 280, S.C 338, 312 S.E.2d 720 (Ct. App) 1984. (Where putative father failed to object to admissibility of blood test results at trial, he would not be heard to complain on appeal about the trial judge's consideration of that evidence in reaching a decision). Moreover, Appellants introduced exhibits concerning the wetlands issue as part of the presentation of their case. Certainly Appellants are not contending that the Master erred in considering their own evidence!

7. The Master was correct in holding that the property in question was one lot, had always been one lot and therefore should remain one lot. This issue has already been addressed somewhat in issue number four; however, it is clear from the testimony that the lot had always been sold as one lot. This is to preserve the residential nature of the neighborhood, as set forth by the original owners and Grantors. Furthermore, Appellant testified that it was his intention when he purchased the lot to use it as one lot and build a home on it. (R. p. 305, lines 5-7) It was only thereafter, when he had gotten a good price on the lot that he tried to divide it into seven lots and destroy the residential nature of the neighborhood. (R. p. 326, line 12-p. 327, line 25)

8. The Master correctly ruled that based on the testimony presented at the hearing the documents presented, including previous orders and the original restrictions, that Appellants had actual notice, in more than one instance as to the fact that the subject property was one lot, and that it could not be subdivided. Appellants' own real estate lawyer, Mr. Wayne Mumford, testified that he had a copy of the 1972 Order (R. p. 247, lines 8-20) as did Appellant prior to the closing of his lot. (R. p. 323, line 22-p. 324, line 1) The Meeses never considered sub-dividing the property; had owned it as one lot; bought it as one lot; and never had any intention of doing anything else with the lot. (R. p. 390, lines 9-14) Appellant's erroneously focus on the Shelter Rule. The Shelter Rule is not applicable to an action to enforce restrictive covenants, and Appellants have not provided the Court with any case law suggesting otherwise. The so called "Shelter Rule" has been applied where a *bona fide* purchaser for value obtains property without notice of an unrecorded mortgage or lien and thereafter conveys the property to another. Cases have held in that situation; that the good title acquired by the *bona fide* purchaser can be passed on to a subsequent purchaser. Nothing in the Shelter Rule mentions restrictive covenants, and it is simply not applicable to restrictive covenants.

Moreover, there is a long line of authority which holds that a covenant is enforceable against a subsequent Grantee, even if not in the Grantee's deed, if the Grantee has actual or constructive notice of the covenants. (This point will be addressed in greater detail in Respondent's argument section). It is clear from the transcript that both the Meeses and Appellants had knowledge of the Restrictive Covenants. As such, the Master did not err in failing to apply the Shelter Rule.

ARGUMENT

I. THE MASTER CORRECTLY HELD THAT THE 1958 RESTRICTIVE COVENANTS APPLY TO APPELLANTS' PROPERTY AND THAT APPELLANTS HAD BOTH ACTUAL AND CONSTRUCTIVE NOTICE OF THE 1958 RESTRICTIVE COVENANTS.

Appellants' argument that the Restrictive Covenants do not apply to the subject property by their express terms is an attempt at obfuscation and borders on the disingenuous. The pertinent restriction attached to the 1955 map of Long Bay Estates Subdivision, created by the Lewis Family (Grantors) states: "No lot shall be subdivided As to all unsold lots, the Grantors reserve the right to change the boundary lines and the building lines thereof." (R. p. 600 and separately filed map) It is clear and unambiguous that the restriction prohibits subdividing any lots, except for those that are unsold, and if a lot is unsold, only the Grantor, who are Carmen F. Ward and Gene F. Lewis, have the right to change the boundary lines or building lines thereof. It is undisputed that the original language of the covenants stated they applied only to Blocks 1 through 27. Thereafter, in litigation commenced by the Grantors against all the property owners, an order signed by then Master Winston Vaught, clarified the scope of the restrictions and stated they applied to Blocks 1 - 27, 30, 32, and 34, and the remaining portions of "old" Blocks 28 and 29, which included Appellants' parcel. (R. pp. 48-49) This identical issue was addressed in a second lawsuit which culminated in an order issued by the present Master Stan Cross, which incorporated the 1972 Order of Judge Vaught. (R. p. 22)

Respondent has never taken the position that the 1958 Restrictive Covenants specifically included Appellants' property, but rather has consistently argued that the subsequent litigation,

which culminated in an agreement between the Grantors and all property owners as expressed in the 1972 Order, clarified the extent of the original restrictions, stating that the remaining portions of “old” Blocks 28 and 29, which includes Appellants’ 2.67 acre tract, are subject to the restrictions. After a full hearing, Master Howe ruled, “It is the finding of the Court that Judge Vaught intended that once Blocks 28 and 29 were sold, no other person had any right to change the boundary lines or building lines, that right being reserved to the original “Grantor”. (R. p. 13) The order is clear and unambiguous on its face that only the “Grantors” had the right to change the boundary lines, and they did not exercise this right. **In fact, as Master Howe** found, the lot was owned and sold as one lot with one building consistently, until Appellants purchased the lot and learned they might be able to get a good price on subdividing and selling off seven lots instead on one. (R. pp. 14-15) Moreover, Jay Dusenbury, the attorney of record representing the Meeses (previous owners to Appellants) testified that although he did not find the 1972 Vaught Order in the chain of title, he and the Meeses both knew there were restrictions on the Long Bay Estates property. (R. p. 369, lines 7-22) He further testified that he knew there existed a strong possibility that those restrictions did apply to Blocks 28 and 29 and that he conveyed that information to Appellant at the time he purchased the property. (R. p. 369, line 12-p. 370, line 12) He further testified that in fact at the time Appellants signed the contract to purchase the property from the Meese’s Appellants signed a stand-alone document stating that the restrictions could apply. (R. p. 370, lines 13-17) As such, it is clear that both the Meeses and the Appellants had actual or constructive knowledge of the restrictions.

It is important to note that the Master’s finding that the 1958 Restrictive Covenants apply to all the lots in the Long Bay Estates Subdivision was not issued in isolation; rather, this was the fourth time the Horry County Court System had dealt with the question of the applicability of the

covenants. In ruling that the restriction against the subdivision of lots applied to Appellants' property, the Master relied on not only the language of the original Restrictive Covenants, but also on the three ensuing court orders. Judge Cross also found that the Grantors, which included Carmen F. Ward and Gene F. Lewis, owned the subject property from the time of the creation of Long Bay Estates until 1997 when Carmen Ward sold the parcel to Appellants' predecessors in title, David and Leigh Ammons Meese. (R. p. 25) Now, Master Howe has also found that the Grantors which included Carmen F. Ward and Gene F. Lewis, owned the property from the time of creation of Long Bay Estates until 1997 when Carmen F. Ward sold the parcel to Appellant's predecessors in titled, David and Leigh Ammons Meese.

Accordingly, the subject parcel was bound by the restriction against subdividing, not only as originally contained in the Restrictive Covenants, but as agreed upon and explained by the two lawsuits wherein both the Grantors and Appellants' predecessors in title were parties. If Appellants' argument was accepted, Appellants would be treated differently from all other persons similarly situated in that they would not be bound by the original restriction against subdividing despite the fact their predecessors in title received the property directly from the Grantors, who were parties to the earlier litigation. The Master thus, correctly and consistently, ruled that Appellants' property is bound by the 1958 Restrictive Covenants.

II. THE MASTER CORRECTLY HELD THAT THE SHELTER RULE DOES NOT PROVIDE APPELLANTS ANY FREEDOM TO SUBDIVIDE THEIR LOTS, BECAUSE APPELLANTS, NOR THEIR PREDECESSOR IN TITLE QUALIFY AS “BONA FIDE PURCHASERS FOR VALUE”

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